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Mayo

150

Sligo

142

Leitrim

11

Donegal

167

Roscommon

39

Westmeath

12

Monaghan

21

Meath

266

Louth

412

Offaly

73

Longford

142

Cavan

56

Galway

477

Clare

62

Limerick

209

Cork

929

Tipperary

267 Kilkenny

67

Laois

292

Kildare

206

Carlow

179

Wexford

192

Wicklow

14

Dublin

1983

Waterford

202
Kerry

195

Our 
homes 
throughout
Ireland

Total 
6,765

3,913
Houses

2,798
Apartments  

and Duplexes

54
Rooms in  

Group Homes
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Clúid Housing is an independent, 
not-for-profit charity, leading the 
way in delivering high-quality, 
affordable rented homes to 
people in housing need. 
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Commitment  
to Excellence
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Chairperson’s  
Statement  
—

We believe that
good governance
is intrinsic to 
our success.  

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
of Clúid Housing, I welcome you 
to the 2018 Annual Report. This 
report provides a summary of 
the work and achievements of 
Clúid in 2018, as our organisation 
continues to respond to Ireland’s 
housing need. 

This past year has seen the demand 
for social housing rise, as the country 
seeks long-term solutions to the 
lack of affordable housing available 
to low and middle-income earners. 
This has all taken place against a 
backdrop of rising rents in the private 
rented sector; increased pressure on 
emergency accommodation solutions; 
and a backlog on the local authority 
housing waiting lists.

The rising demand for good-quality 
housing puts into sharp focus the 
importance of Clúid’s work in building 
and maintaining our properties. 
And with that, the importance of 
Clúid responding to the crisis in a 
manner that is both positive for the 
sector and sustainable in practice for 
the organisation. 
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2018 marks the end of our 2015-2018 
Strategy, Social Housing: an integral 
part of a sustainable housing system. 
The pillars underpinning the  
Strategy were: 
 
1. Growing our Business
2. Serving our Customers
3. Building our Capacity 
4. Financial Forecasting.

In terms of Growing our Business, 
Clúid is still the largest approved 
housing body (AHB) in Ireland, with 
6,765 homes across the country. This 
growth is testament to our strong 
partnerships with local authorities, 
the Department of Housing, Planning 
and Local Government (DHPLG), 
the Housing Finance Agency (HFA), 
local communities and other housing 
associations and developers. These 
relationships are central to our 
work, allowing us to collaborate on 
the important work of providing 
social housing nationwide, and to 
reach people in housing need from 
diverse backgrounds and different 
stages of life. 

Under the pillar of Serving our 
Customers, we are proud to build on 
our track record of strong customer-
focused and customer-driven service 
provision. We have over 17,000 
residents in our properties throughout 
the country, and our Customer 
Contact Centre provides ongoing 
support services and an active efficient 
response to our customers’ needs. 
This year also saw the rollout of Clúid 
Works, our in-house repairs service. 
What began as a pilot in the Southeast 
is now a national service, following the 
high levels of customer satisfaction 
with the service’s ethos of “right repair, 
right time, first time”.

Additionally, our new Asset 
Management Strategy, which was 
rolled out in 2018, will ensure the 
sustainability of our quality housing. 
Clúid’s principal assets are the homes 
we own and manage. This new policy 
and strategy provides a welcome 
and necessary framework for the vital 
analysis of our property portfolio. 

It will assist us in determining the 
priorities and levels of investment 
in our properties over the next 
five years. It will also influence the 
way we proactively approach our 
maintenance and development 
activities into the future.

Clúid’s commitment to invest in our 
team and to find and retain the best 
people to deliver on our mission 
was also at the core of our strategy 
pillar, Building our Capacity. Our 
employee numbers grew from 164 in 
2017 to 186 in 2018. Looking ahead 
to 2019, we expect these numbers to 
increase as the work of Clúid continues 
apace, reflecting the demand for our 
collective expertise in housing. 

In relation to Financial Forecasting, 
our ambitious plan for the next 
three years is the delivery of 2,200 
homes across Ireland. Following the 
Board’s approval of Clúid’s Treasury 
Management Policy in 2017, last year 
saw our team meeting with potential 
new funders for our development 
programme. Currently, all our schemes 
are funded through loans from the 
HFA, but we are confident that we will 
attract other funders, feeding positively 
into our sustainable business model.

The Board’s role in corporate 
governance and oversight is integral 
to the successful implementation of 
Clúid’s business plan. As part of its 
own learning and development, the 
Board undertook several planning 
days in 2018, with a particular focus 
on risk and governance. Following 
these discussions, it was agreed 
that the 2017 structure of four board 
committees, which mirrored our 2015-
2018 Strategy pillars, would change to 
three new committees:

1. Audit and Risk 
2. Business Development
3. Nominations and Remuneration. 

This new governance structure is built 
on best practice and the needs of our 
growing organisation.

The rising demand 
for good-quality 
housing puts into 
sharp focus the 
importance of  
Clúid’s work.

17,140 
In December 2018,  

17,140 people were  

living in 6,765 properties 

either owned or managed 

by Clúid. 
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During the year, there were some 
changes to the membership of 
Clúid’s Board of Directors. I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank 
our four outgoing Board Members 
for their contribution to the work of 
Clúid over the last few years. In their 
place, three new Board Members 
were elected at our AGM, bringing 
with them skills and knowledge in 
the areas of housing policy, legal and 
treasury management.

Clúid delivered an additional 398 new 
homes in 2018. While these are lower 
numbers than our 2017 figure of 595, 
this reflects the nature of construction 
in Ireland at present, where delays 
within the planned timeline can affect 
the delivery date of a scheme. Looking 
forward, it is expected that schemes 
which unfortunately were not ready 
for handover to residents in 2018, will 
be delivered in 2019, allowing for a 
bumper start to our housing delivery 
in the new year.

Clúid’s delivery target for the next 
three years is ambitious. Our aim, to 
deliver 2,200 additional social housing 
units, is set against the backdrop of 
our new Strategy, Building Focus, 
which will take us from 2019-2022. 

The strategy is structured under the 
following five pillars:

1.  Building Sustainable Communities
2. Improving our Services
3. Building our Capacity
4. Investing in our Properties
5. Influencing our Future.

Each of these pillars provides a natural 
follow-on from our previous strategy, 
allowing us to expand on the excellent 
work done by Clúid, to date. 

As we look back on 2018, I would 
like to thank our CEO, Brian 
O’Gorman, and his diligent and 
dedicated team in Clúid for their 
commitment and hard work during 
what has been a sometimes 
challenging year. Their energy and 
passion for the sector is proof of 
why they are the organisation’s 
most valuable resources.

Finally, I wish to recognise the 
voluntary commitment of my 
colleagues on the Board and to thank 
them for their support. We believe 
that good governance is intrinsic to 
our success as an organisation. Our 
ability to meet our strategic priorities 
has a direct impact on the day-to-day 
operations of Clúid. Good governance 
ensures effective decision-making 
and prioritisation of resources and 
we will continue to work to uphold 
those standards within Clúid, as part 
of our mission to build sustainable 
communities across Ireland.

Fiona Barron 
Chairperson

Good governance 
ensures effective 
decision-making 
and prioritisation  
of resources. 

2,200
We have ambitious plans 

to deliver 2,200 homes 

across Ireland over the 

next three years.
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“ From the first moment I came for an 
interview, they were so dedicated to what 
they’re doing – they want everyone to be 
happy and comfortable where they are. 
It’s the first time in my life that I have  
my own place to call home.” 
 
Clúid resident
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Chief Executive’s 
Statement  
—

Partnership
is a guiding
principle in
our work. 

Welcome to our Annual Report 
for 2018, which focuses on our 
commitment to ‘Building Sustainable 
Communities’. Clúid Housing’s 
ability to support the creation of such 
communities rests upon the services 
we provide to our residents. We believe 
that safe and secure tenancies are the 
bedrock upon which people can come 
together to form neighbourhoods and 
communities. Living in secure housing 
also brings with it the opportunity 
to work and to access education and 
training, as well as other services.

Clúid’s approach to housing provision 
is holistic - it is centred on the 
importance of treating our residents 
with respect, while listening to and 
actively seeking feedback from them. 
This is demonstrated across all of our 
services. Our dedicated Customer 
Contact Centre and our in-house 
property repairs services, Clúid Works, 
are key examples in practice. 

Clúid delivered 398 new homes across 
the country in 2018 and through the 
development of these projects, we 
have strengthened our partnerships 
with local authorities, developers, 
government departments and 
agencies. The further cultivation of 
these important working relationships 
has been integral to our development 
as one of the leading approved 
housing bodies (AHBs) in Ireland.

10



Partnership is a guiding principle 
in our work – we do not exist in 
isolation. We are part of a sector 
that is growing, one which is based 
on interdependencies between all 
of the key players. We all have a 
part to play – from government to 
grassroots organisations – in resolving 
our country’s housing issues. Our 
mission as an AHB, is derived from 
the mandate of local authorities, and 
we are proud to have a national remit 
working with all of them. We were 
delighted to host visits from a number 
of local authorities throughout 
2018, building on our existing 
relationships and promoting ever 
greater understanding.
 
For me, a particularly memorable 
project in 2018 was the launch of 
Milltown Meadows, in Ashbourne. 
Little or no social housing had been 
built in Ashbourne for over 15 years, 
leaving significant demand for good-
quality affordable housing. Clúid was 
delighted to collaborate with Meath 
County Council on this much-needed 
project and to provide a home to 67 
families. The scheme is characteristic 
of our approach to social housing 
provision. Each house was built to a 
very high-spec finish and has energy-
efficient heating and an A-rated BER. 
The location is excellent too and 
provides easy access to the vibrant 
town centre, as well as a range of local 
shops and services.

In the wider context, a well governed 
housing sector is of critical importance 
to maintaining public trust and to 
attracting the investment which is 
essential to the development of our 
sector. We welcome recent changes, 
including enhanced regulation. Clúid 
Housing works with three regulators: 
the Residential Tenancies Board (RTB) 
which regulates us as a landlord; 
the Property Services Regulatory 
Authority which regulates us as a 
provider of property management 
services; and finally the Housing 
Regulator which regulates us as an 
Approved Housing Body (AHB). In 
2018, the Housing Regulator produced 
its performance standard. This 
standard now sits alongside the two 
previously published standards in 
finance and governance. 

Over the course of the past 12 
months, the work of the Housing 
Alliance (HA), led by the Chief 
Executives of Circle VHA, Clúid 
Housing, Cooperative Housing 
Ireland, Oaklee Housing, Respond, 
and Tuath Housing continued apace. 
Principally, members agreed to focus 
on building and formalising the 
Alliance’s structure. A constitution 
for the group was drafted and the 
members have agreed to focus on 
increasing the delivery of social 
housing, lobbying for a reversal 
of the reclassification of AHBs as 
public bodies by the CSO, and the 
development of an affordable housing 
scheme. Classification continues 
to threaten access to long-term 
funding and casts a shadow on the 
independence of non-profit housing. 
Lobbying will be a core focus for the 
Alliance; and for Clúid, in addition 
to identifying alternative funding 
sources. The Alliance continues to 
serve as an important resource for 
member organisations, encouraging 
cooperation and the sharing of good 
practice across the sector. We look 
forward to further collaborations in the 
coming years. 

2018 presented us with excellent 
opportunities to forge links with 
housing associations internationally. 

As part of the development of Clúid’s 
next strategy, Building Focus (2019-
2022), members of the Executive Team 
and the Board visited six housing 
associations in the UK. The purpose 
of these visits was to learn about 
each organisation’s development 
plans and the management of their 
housing and property services. 
Clúid also hosted visits from: Choice 
Housing in Northern Ireland (along 
with Oaklee Housing); Housing New 
Zealand; and Housing York Inc. from 
Toronto, Canada. 

Keen to further expand our 
organisational shared knowledge, 
Clúid joined the European Federation 
for Living (EFL), whose membership 
comprises of housing associations 
and organisations with an interest in 
housing across Europe. We hope that 
our membership will help us to make 
valuable new links with a variety of 
housing providers. The opportunity 
to share ideas; gain knowledge; and 
get practical insight into the work of 
other housing associations cannot be 
understated. Visits and interactions  
are an important part of our 
organisation’s learning, and allow  
Clúid to promote its work and ethos 
on an international stage. 

As we look ahead to 2019, when  
we will mark our 25th anniversary,  
I am very grateful for the continued 
commitment of our board, our staff 
and all our stakeholders in helping us 
realise our vision of a society where 
everyone has a great place to live. 
All of these relationships are the 
foundation upon which Clúid exists 
and grows, and they allow us to 
face into 2019 with ambitious plans 
for continued excellence in social 
housing delivery. 

 
Brian O’Gorman
Chief Executive

I am very grateful 
for the continued 
commitment of our 
Board, our staff and 
all our stakeholders 
in helping us 
realise our vision 
of a society where 
everyone has a great 
place to live. 
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Who We Are
—

Clúid Housing is an independent, 
not-for-profit charity, leading the way 
in delivering high-quality, affordable 
rented homes to people in housing 
need. Clúid is the largest approved 
housing body (AHB) in Ireland and is 
committed to playing an active role in 
the creation of a properly functioning 
housing sector. Our aim is to provide 
high-quality, good-value housing for 
families, single people, senior citizens 
and people with disabilities.

How We Work
—

Our business is a social business, 
based on the central tenets of value-
for-money and effective and efficient 
use of our resources. We aim to 
maximise success in all that we do. 
Our financial stewardship is of the 
highest standard, with surpluses 
invested back into the organisation 
to help further our mission. Clúid 
works with partners who share our 
commitment to excellence and ability 
to deliver against ambitious targets.
We are responding creatively and 
effectively to strong social housing 
demand in Ireland.

What We Achieved  
in 2018
—

Partnerships with Government, local 
authorities and developers are key 
to how Clúid operates as an AHB. In 
2018, Clúid worked in partnership with 
24 local authorities to deliver 398 new 
homes across the country. This work 
would not have been possible without 
funding from the Housing Finance 
Agency (HFA) and our partnerships 
with developers around the country. 
As of December 2018, 17,140 people 
were living in 6,765 properties, either 
owned or managed by Clúid.

In 2018...
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Vision

Clúid’s vision is a society  
where everyone has a  
great place to live.

Mission

Clúid aims to achieve its 
vision by providing quality 
housing and services to 
enable people to create 
homes and thriving 
communities.

Our  
Values
—

 
Leadership
Clúid is passionate about results that 
matter and is committed to constantly 
challenging the way we do things, so that 
we can be the best at what we do. We aim 
to set the benchmark for housing quality 
and customer service. We accept only 
the highest standards of conduct and put 
service before self-interest.

Collaboration
Clúid is approachable and responsive.  
We aim to get the best, mutually 
beneficial results from all our working
relationships. We keep our promises.

Responsibility
Clúid takes personal and collective 
responsibility to ensure that 
the needs of our customers are 
consistently met in a cost-effective 
and sustainable manner.

Caring
Clúid believes that when we care for 
each other, interacting with integrity 
and respect, we will ultimately 
achieve the best possible outcome 
in any given situation.
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Supporting
the growth
of sustainable
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Clúid’s approach to housing 
provision is holistic, centred on 
the importance of treating our 
residents with respect whilst 
listening to and actively seeking 
feedback on our services. 
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High-quality  
Service Provision
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Mayo

1

Sligo

2

Donegal

28

Roscommon

14

Monaghan

2

Meath

37

Louth

3

Offaly

1

Galway

3

Clare

30

Limerick

2

Cork

2

Tipperary

20 Kilkenny

2

Laois

14

Kildare

78

Carlow

3

Wexford

1

Wicklow

1

Dublin

156

Waterford

1

Kerry

1

Housing  
provided  
by county  
in 2018 
—

In 2018, Clúid worked in 
partnership with the Department 
of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government, local authorities, 
developers, Housing Finance 
Agency, financial institutions  
and other third-parties to deliver 
398 social housing properties 
across Ireland.
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Property  
Type 
—

18
Clúid Design  
and Build280

Developer  
Turnkey

19
Developer Design  
and Build

25
Other

30
Mortgage to Rent

We handed over the
keys to 398 new
homes in 2018. 

26
Second-Hand Acquisitions
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Feature 
—
Milltown Meadows, 
Ashbourne, 
Co. Meath

A new 
home for 
67 families

Sixty-seven families were the happy 
recipients of the keys to their brand 
new homes with the completion of 
Milltown Meadows in Ashbourne in 
July 2018. They had spent, on average, 
seven years on the social housing 
waiting list. 
 
The Minister of State at the 
Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government, Damien English, 
T.D. welcomed the new residents, 
which included seven Syrian families, 
to their new homes at the launch of  
the scheme. 

Clúid Housing, in partnership with 
Glenveagh Properties and Meath 
County Council, were delighted to 
deliver a brand new estate, which was 
only 15 months in construction, and 
brought much needed affordable 
housing to the area. The surrounding 
area is predominantly privately 
owned residential housing, and little 
or no social housing has been built 
in Ashbourne for over 15 years. This 
had left significant demand for good 
quality, affordable housing.

Milltown Meadows is a mix of two-, 
three- and four-bed houses, with a 
very high-spec finish, energy-efficient 
heating and an A-rated BER. The 
location is excellent and gives easy 
access to the town centre as well as a 
range of local shops and services.
Justin Bickle, Co-Founder and CEO 
of Glenveagh Properties PLC said 
that the company was honoured to 
have partnered with Clúid on this 
development: “Projects such as 
this can play an important role in 
delivering more housing and we look 
forward to further co-operation with 
Clúid in the future.”

Clúid funded the scheme using 
a government loan of 24% of the 
total purchase price to leverage a 
larger bank loan from the Housing 
Finance Agency. Clúid will repay 
these loans using the rent paid by 
tenants (which is always affordable) 
and an availability payment from the 
Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government.

76%
The scheme is 

predominantly financed 

by Clúid Housing 

through private finance 

provided by the Housing 

Finance Agency. 

24% 
The percentage of Capital 

Advance Leasing (CALF) 

funding received from the 

Department of Housing, 

Planning and Local 

Government for  

this project. 

Finance 
Highlights

€17.7m 
The development of 

Milltown Meadows, 

Ashbourne cost €17.7m. 

This is a Developer  

Turnkey project. 

“ The delivery of these much needed homes in Milltown 
Meadows, Ashbourne is a tangible example of the 
importance of partnerships between Approved Housing 
Bodies, such as Clúid Housing Association, the local 
authority, in this case Meath County Council, and a 
developer in getting homes built. Furthermore, the 
delivery of these homes demonstrates the Government’s 
commitment to that objective. Developments such as 
Milltown Meadows will anchor strong communities, a 
performing economy and an environment of quality.” 
 
Minister of State at the Department of Housing,  
Planning and Local Government, Damien English, T.D
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One of the residents of Milltown  
Meadows, Michael Keane, 
featured in the Irish Independent 
on 10th July 2018, and spoke 
about his journey from 
homelessness to his new home.
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Single father-of-five Michael Keane burst into 

tears of joy when he realised his days without  

a home were at an end. After spending 25 years  

as a master craftsman for Waterford Crystal,  

the 56-year-old’s life ‘was on hold’ after he was 

made redundant.

Things took a turn for the worse when his landlord decided to sell his 
property. On top of that, Mr Keane’s marriage had fallen apart. But Mr 
Keane never lost hope.

 “ I knew the only way to get through this bad spell was to remain 
positive,” he said.

 “ When I lost my home, my entire life was on hold. Last year, I spent 
more than three months in emergency accommodation and also in 
friends’ homes.

 “ I had all my clothes and belongings in my van and just took each day 
as it came.”

 
After spending years on the social housing list, Mr Keane’s bad luck 
suddenly came to an end. Meath County Council had referred his case 
to not-for-profit charity Clúid Housing, who were in the process of 
building 67 homes in Ashbourne.

 “ They interviewed me for these new developments, but there was 
never a guarantee that I would be offered one.

 “ It was all I could think about and I admit I started having my doubts. 
Then out of the blue I got the phone call I was waiting for.

 “ When I was told that I was one of the 67 people being given a home, 
I broke down in tears. I can’t put into words how ecstatic I felt.

 “ Clúid spent no time waiting around. They handed over the keys that 
Wednesday at 11am and by 12.15pm I was out washing the windows.

 “ But it was only when I put my clothes into my wardrobe that it 
dawned on me that my days of being homeless were over,”  he said.
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Helping our 
residents to 
pursue their 
educational aims

Michael Keane was also one of the 
recipients of the Stepping Stones 
Award in 2018, set up by Clúid to 
provide residents with financial 
support as they pursue education 
and training. Clúid sees this as a 
proactive way to help build sustainable 
communities, and help residents 
achieve their education and career 
goals. In 2018, 42 Clúid tenants were 
awarded a Stepping Stones grant 
for third-level studies and adult 
education courses.

Michael explains why he submitted an 
application for the awards in the first 
place: “The Stepping Stones Award 
was an opportunity that really came 
out of the blue. I read the information 
[in the residents’ newsletter] and 
decided to find out more about the 
terms and conditions of the award 
on offer. I had no idea if I would be 
successful in my application for the 
grant but it was an opportunity I could 
not ignore as it would mean that a 
craft close to my heart would possibly 
become a reality”.

Michael’s application was to complete 
a course in flame glass working, which 
followed on from his own craftwork 
in glass with Waterford Crystal. He 
says: “I have worked with glass for 
over 25 years and I’ve always wanted 
to return to a craft that I spent so 
long involved with over the years. The 
Flame Glass Working Course is similar 
to the work I did when I worked in 
Waterford Crystal, except on a smaller 
scale and requires a certain dexterity 
to complete the tasks. I also hope the 
course will give me some new skills in 
the area of jewellery making”.

He is extremely grateful for the 
opportunity winning this award has 
given him: “Without this award, I would 
not have been able to participate in 
this course. I would have had to fund it 
myself, and without a regular income to 
fund the training, this would not have 
been possible. I could not believe that I 
received the award and I will always be 
grateful for the opportunity that Clúid 
has given me”.

I could not believe 
that I received the 
award and I will 
always be grateful 
for the opportunity 
that Clúid has 
given me.
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A chance to raise 
their children in 
peace

Abdalhalem (Abdul) Alsmaael 
and his family now live in 
Milltown Meadows. They were 
one of seven Syrian families 
Clúid offered a home through 
collaboration with the UN 
Refugee Agency (UNHCR)  
and Extern Ireland. 

Clúid was honoured and 
delighted to assist in the housing 
of these seven families. Our team 
is proud to support diversity in 
its resident communities. We see 
this also as part of our mandate 
to help build sustainable 
communities across Ireland. 
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Clúid’s 186 employees are an 
important part of our story. Without 
their hard work and tireless 
efforts to provide the best service 
to our residents, our values as an 
organisation would not be realised. 

Helping
Clúid Build
Sustainable
Communities

We have a highly skilled and talented 
workforce, who have brought with 
them their collective experience and 
expertise in the private and public 
sector, working across a multitude 
of professions. Only through the 
combined efforts of our staff, led by a 
dynamic leadership team, are we able 
to progress as an organisation at the 
pace we have achieved. 

Feature 
—
Our Team

22



Our Departments:
 › Business Transformation
 › Chief Executive’s Office
 › Clúid Works
 › Communications
 › Customer Contact Centre
 › Facilities 
 › Finance
 › Housing Services
 › Human Resources
 › IT
 › Legal
 › New Business
 › Policy
 › Property Services.

Each area of work plays an important 
role in the delivery of good-quality 
housing and services to our residents. 

While Clúid prides itself on being a 
supportive, learning environment for 
staff to develop their skills and grow 
their knowledge of the sector, we  
have also been enriched by the 
values and dedication of our staff. 
Kathleen Aspell Mortimer, from our 
Housing Services Team, is a wonderful 
example of this. In February 2018, 
she was named ‘Housing Hero’ at the 
Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) 
Awards in Belfast. 

Kathleen is a Housing Officer in the 
North West Region. The scheme she 
managed at Clifden and the more 
recent project in Letterfrack bear 
Kathleen’s hallmark. She has imbued 
both schemes with her values, and 
those of Clúid, ensuring that all of the 
residents are part of the community, 
and see themselves as contributing 
and enhancing the life of their 
neighbours. Clúid was delighted to 
see our teammate recognised on this 
national platform.

Our Legal Team are also an example 
of the high standards of our staff. They 
were presented with the In House 
Legal Team of the Year Award in April 
at the Irish Law Awards. The Irish 
Law Awards recognise excellence in 
the legal profession, and Clúid was 
honoured to have the dedication and 
hard work of our Legal Department 
acknowledged in this fashion. 

Our Team...

45 / 55%
We have a healthy gender 

balance of 45% women 

to 55% men, with the 

majority of our staff (59%) 

aged between 35-50 years. 

21% of staff are 50 years 

old and over, with 20% of 

staff aged between 25-34 

years of age.

Clúid Housing is able to respond 
quickly to todays’ pressing housing 
needs by having a strong legal 
team in place; Clúid Housing is 
recognised as the largest approved 
housing body (AHB) in the state, 
providing almost 6,500 properties 
to social housing tenants. Now, 
Clúid Housing, a not-for-profit 
organisation, is being lauded for its 
lawful innovation, with its in-house 
legal team making an impression at 
this year’s Irish Law Awards. 

The Sunday Business Post, 27th May 2018
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Feature 
—
Mill Court,  
Bandon,  
Co. Cork 

Supporting
Life-long
Sustainable
Communities
Clúid was delighted to host a visit in 
August from Minister of State at the 
Department of Health with special 
responsibility for Mental Health and 
Older People, Jim Daly T.D. to our 
Older Persons scheme in Bandon,  
Co. Cork.

The Minister saw first-hand the 
benefits of developing purpose-built 
supported housing for older people in 
Mill Court. Here, Clúid provides homes 
that enable senior citizens to live 
independently as they age.

Rachel Lartey, Housing Manager with 
Clúid Housing says: “There is a gap 
in housing and support options for 
older people, between remaining at 
home and going into a nursing home. 
Clúid is dedicated to bridging that 
gap through building more housing 
schemes like Mill Court.

“We are committed to creating 
homes and communities in which 
older people can live full and 
independent lives. Our dedicated 
housing schemes for senior citizens 
promote independence, autonomy 
and choice and are a sustainable 
alternative housing model to 
residential care, as well as being 
significantly less expensive.”

Lartey also says: “By increasing the 
number of universal design homes 
in key areas of need and providing 
a housing model which sources 
support from the local community 
such as Public Health Nurses, home 
help support, meals on wheels, etc., 
Clúid can successfully empower older 
people to remain at home within their 
own communities.

“We need to drive forward with this 
work because Ireland’s population is 
ageing and living longer. There is a 
need and demand for this alternative 
housing model for older people – a 
housing model which provides choice, 
a home for life, security and a sense 
of community.”

Clúid Housing provides specialist older 
persons housing to 703 households 
across the country in areas where there 
is a demand for this type of housing, 
as reflected in local authority waiting 
lists. The purpose of these schemes 
is to help older people to stay living 
independently for as long as they are 
able and want to do so. In County Cork, 
for example, Clúid has developed older 
persons-specific housing schemes 
in Bandon, Newmarket, Charleville 
and Carrigtwohill.

Speaking during his visit to the 
scheme, Minister Daly said: “As 
people get older, their housing needs 
are likely to change. A key principle 
underpinning Government policy 
is to support older people to live 
in their own home with dignity and 
independence for as long as possible. 
Our aim is to ensure that older people 
will have more choice by developing 
a range of housing options that are 
suited to their needs, so they can plan 
ahead and, insofar as possible, choose 
the right home for them. Varying levels 
of support are needed to enable older 
people to continue living in their own 
homes and communities, including 
care needs where appropriate.

“Schemes like Mill Court allow 
residents to maintain their 
independence, while also providing 
the supports that ensure safety and 
peace of mind for its residents.”

703
Clúid Housing provides 

specialist older 

persons housing to 703 

households across the 

country in areas where 

there is a demand for 

this type of housing, 

as reflected in local 

authority waiting lists. 

Our organisation 
is committed to 
creating homes and 
communities in 
which older people 
can live full and 
independent lives. 
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Schemes like 
Mill Court allow 
residents to 
maintain their 
independence, while 
also providing  
the supports that 
ensure safety and 
peace of mind for  
its residents.

Minister Jim Daly
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Feature 
—
European 
Neighbours’ Day

Clúid’s housing officers regularly 
organise events for their schemes, 
as part of Clúid’s commitment 
to helping build sustainable 
communities across Ireland. 
European Neighbours’ Day, which 
normally takes place on the last 
Friday of every May is always a 
favourite event on the calendar. 

Pictured here are some of  
our staff and residents enjoying 
the organised activities at our 
2018 European Neighbours’  
Day events. 

27Annual Report 2018Clúid Housing



Promoting 
sustainable 
practices in 
our work
S

ec
ti

o
n

  
T

h
re

e

28



&
Clúid is proud of its track record in 
customer-centred and customer-
driven service provision. At the 
heart of this work also is a clear 
focus on sustainable practices to 
ensure the efficient and effective 
use of Clúid’s resources.

S
u

st
a

in
a

b
il

it
y

 

Effective Use  
of Resources
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The Property Services team is
responsible for the repair, maintenance
and improvement of Clúid’s homes.

Property 
Services 
—

Clúid
Works 
—

A regional network of professional 
building surveyors and other 
property maintenance professionals is 
supported by a central investment and 
asset management planning team.

The duties of the team include 
developing long-term programmes 
for improvements (heating, 
kitchens, windows etc.); managing 
repair, maintenance and servicing 
contracts; as well as supporting 
our New Business team in ensuring 
any prospective new housing stock 
meets our own high standards before 
we let the property.

The team works closely with colleagues 
across the business to ensure that 
the homes meet the needs of our 
residents now and into the future and 
that they are safe, comfortable and 
sustainably maintained.

Property Services at a glance in 2018:

Planned Programme 2018 (asset enhancements) – €3.96m 
 › 122 kitchens fitted
 › 267 boilers and heat pumps fitted
 › 110 units fitted with new doors and windows.

Cyclical 
 › 100% gas compliance
 › 4,299 boilers serviced
 › 527 electrical inspections completed.

Fuel Poverty 
 › Upgraded 167 units from an average ‘G’ Rating to a ‘B3’ Rating
 › Secured over €1.1m in grant funding
 ›  Improvements equate to over €400k in potential savings to our residents.

Invest to save
 ›  The installation of energy-efficient lighting in communal areas of  

apartment blocks and offices has saved Clúid €18,000. 

Stock Condition Surveys
 › Completed: 750.

In 2018, following a successful pilot 
scheme in the South East of the 
country, we completed the rollout of 
our in-house repairs service, Clúid 
Works. The introduction of this service 
has given our residents greater access 
to a repairs service, which in turn has 
allowed for a quicker response time 
by Clúid to action such requests and 
resolve any issues or problems. 

The service is part of Clúid’s planned 
maintenance of its properties, as 
part of our key focus on building 
sustainable homes and sustainable 
business practices. While the 
introduction of this service has 
resulted in increased expenditure, 
Clúid sees this as an investment 
not only in the maintenance of our 
properties to the highest standards, 
but in the growing and nurturing of 
our relationship with our residents. 

Clúid Works at a glance in 2018:

99%
Average satisfaction rate  

with repairs service

2.7
Average repairs per  

employee per day 

1.9
Average repairs per  

property per annum

8
Average number of days  

to complete a repair 

6,866
Total number of  

repairs in 2018
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The Customer Contact Centre is 
our customer service centre for all 
Clúid residents, contractors, business 
partners and members of the public. 
It enables us to respond to the 
needs of our customers in the most 
efficient way, while providing the 
highest quality of customer service. 
The Customer Contact Centre aims 
to resolve the majority of calls at the 
first point of contact.

Our team of Contact Centre Advisors, 
alongside our housing management 
staff, are dedicated to delivering the 
best possible service. The team aims 
to resolve issues at the first point of 
contact, where possible, and at all times 
to be professional, friendly and efficient. 
All the Advisors are trained to a high 
standard. Our purpose is to deliver what 
our customers need, with as little delay 
and inconvenience as possible. 

The role of a Contact Centre Advisor 
is to support the Housing Services 
and Property Services teams in our 
regional offices by offering a high 
quality ‘one stop shop’ for queries 
on housing, maintenance, and rent 
management to both residents and 
other callers.

In December, we launched a pilot 
web chat service through our website, 
www.cluid.ie. Web chat provides our 
customers with another direct line of 
communication with our dedicated 
team. We can respond to customer 
queries in real time without the need 
for customers to call us. This function 
is in addition to the advice already 
provided on our website covering a 
multitude of issues from ordering a 
repair or paying rent, to applying for 
a property swap.

Customer 
Contact Centre 
—

Our purpose is to
deliver what our 
customers need, 
with as little 
inconvenience  
as possible.

At a glance in 2018

€526,914 
Amount of rent taken 

in over the phone, via 

card payment, by Clúid’s 

Customer Contact Centre 

41,229 
Emails sent by Clúid’s 

Customer Contact Centre 

68,053 
Incoming calls answered 

by Clúid’s Customer 

Contact Centre

42,015 
Outgoing calls made by Clúid’s 

Customer Contact Centre

Clúid’s Customer Service Vision is that 
residents are able to say

›    I have a comfortable home and  
Clúid helps me if I have a problem

›   I am treated fairly and equitably

›   I have choice

›    I am dealt with quickly and correctly
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Funding  
Delivery 
2018 
—

93.2%
Private Finance

371 properties

0.5%
Capital Assistance  
Scheme (CAS)

2 properties

6.3%
Management  
Contracts

25 properties

Clúid funded the 
delivery of these 398 
homes through a 
mixture of funding 
revenues including:

Clúid exists to
provide good
quality, affordable
long-term housing
to those in need. 
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Sustainable 
Funding 
—

Clúid is currently funded by a number 
of different funding sources: housing 
grants under the Capital Loan and 
Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) and the 
Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS); and 
more recently, by the Housing Finance 
Agency through the Capital Advanced 
Leasing Facility (CALF) and Payment 
and Availability Agreements (PAA). 
This funding has enabled Clúid to 
build a diversified portfolio across all 
26 counties in the Republic of Ireland 
to meet the need for social housing.

The profile of the existing funding 
means that the vast majority of 
repayable senior debt, is from the 
HFA (€225m outstanding in 2018). 
Clúid’s existing loans are largely fixed 
rate facilities (93% of debt split as 
27% CALF and 65% HFA) with terms 
of 25 to 30 years from drawdown. 
Re-financing risk for Clúid is minimal 
given that all CAS and CLSS grants 
are expected to be relieved in full on 
their maturity, while all HFA loans are 
amortising to the maturity of the debt.

The utilisation of the PAA has been 
the key driver of growth, along with 
the CALF facility with lending between 
20% and 30% of the acquisition cost 
of the property at 2% simple interest 
rolled up and not paid until maturity 
of the facility, which is set in line with 
the maturity of the PAA. The CALF 
is unsecured and subordinated to 
senior funders and has enabled Clúid 
to leverage greater access to funding 
than would otherwise be possible.

For new funders, the finance provided 
will be against a public-sector payment 
covenant for the rent, the debt service 
cover rations (DSCRs) on the project 
are expected to exceed 1.30x and 
funders will have a fixed charge over 

Clúid Housing

the property but will only need to 
finance potentially 70-80% of the cost 
of the property. The strength in this 
funding model has driven growth 
over the last number of years and is 
the basis of Clúid’s confidence in the 
continued growth in our supply of  
new homes. 

It has also enabled positive financial 
performances for the period to 
December 2018 with annual turnover 
increasing to €37.9m (up from 2017: 
€29.3m) and an increase in surplus to 
€9.02m (2017: €8.26m). A significant 
element of the increase in turnover 
was the growth in payments under the 
PAAs: c. 42% of 2018 income (versus 
approx. 32% in 2017). This has been a 
key driver in our capacity to increase 
the supply of new social housing units. 
Operating expenses also increased 
over the period to €29.6m (from 
€23.5m in 2017) driven by increases 
in staff-related expenditure, interest 
payable and scheme related costs  
that have accompanied the growth 
in the business. 

A key objective for Clúid’s strategy is to 
continue to meet housing need across 
different tenure types. To this end, we 
will be looking to develop new social 
and affordable schemes. To achieve 
this, we will need to access new sources 
of funding to work alongside existing 
funders to ensure the organisation can 
increase the delivery of housing. 

Currently, all the lending has been with 
one source and there is now a strong 
desire to identify new sources and to 
diversify funding streams. We see it as 
beneficial to Clúid to have more than 
one funding source, as well as a natural 
progression for Clúid and the AHB 
sector. In addition, there has also been 
strong support from Government to 
diversify the funding of social housing. 
This support has intensified since the 
Eurostat decision earlier this year to 
reclassify AHBs as public bodies. 

There is now a robustness to the 
Clúid financial model and to its 
capacity to grow to meet housing 
need. This has been achieved over 
a number of years. We intend to 
continue to utilise this robustness to 
increase the number and diversity of 
tenants we house and to ensure that 
the homes we provide are of a good 
quality and financially sustainable.

Clúid as a not-for-profit charity 
is dedicated to the provision of 
good value, long-term, secure, 
quality housing. 

A key objective for 

Clúid’s strategy is 

to continue to meet 

housing need across 

different tenure types.

There is a robustness 

to the Clúid financial 

model and to its 

capacity to grow to 

meet housing need.
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Our Governance
Structures
and Financial
Statements 
for 2018
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The Board of Clúid Housing 
is committed to maintaining 
high standards of corporate 
governance. Clúid is financially 
strong and independent. All the 
money we make is reinvested into 
the provision of social housing 
across a wide spectrum of 
housing needs. 
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Good  
Governance
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Clúid Housing is a registered charity and an 
approved housing body. The organisation 
complies with the Voluntary Regulation Code 
for Approved Housing Bodies in Ireland. 

The Board of Clúid Housing
At any one time, the Board of Clúid Housing 
must have at least five but no more than 
14 members. A detailed overview of the 
members of the Board is available on pages 
38-39 of this report. Board members, all of 
whom are non-executive, are drawn from 
diverse backgrounds and bring a broad range 
of experience and skills to their deliberations. 
All new Board Members, on appointment, are 
provided with detailed briefing documents 
on governance, financial and operational 
information and an opportunity to be briefed 
by executives on the different aspects of 
our business. We also provide organised 
familiarisation tours of a number of our 
housing schemes. Directors have access 
to training programmes and their ongoing 
development needs are kept under review. 
Board members cannot, under the governing 
documents, receive remuneration for services 
to Clúid Housing and may only be reimbursed 
for incidental expenses claimed. 

The Board aims to ensure a balance of 
both age and gender among members and 
openly advertises for positions. The Board 
is committed to maintaining high standards 
of corporate governance. Clúid complies 
with the Governance Code for community, 
voluntary and charitable organisations in 
Ireland. Members of the Board are the 
custodians of Clúid’s vision, mission and 
values. The Board approves the strategy, 
structure, business plans and budgets and 
ensures the organisation remains effective 
and accountable. The Board is responsible 
for appointing the Chief Executive and 
delegating a range of day-to-day decision-
making powers to both the incumbent and 
the executive leadership team.

Appointments and Resignations 
Members of the Board are appointed for a 
term of four years. Members wishing to serve 
a further term must seek re-election at the 
AGM marking the end of their first four-year 
term. Members of the Board may serve for a 
maximum of eight years.

In 2018, three new members were elected to 
the Board of Clúid Housing:
 ›  John-Mark McCafferty  

(appointed 24 June 2018)
 › Kathi Ó Riain (appointed 24 June 2018)
 ›  Mark Shakespeare (Treasurer) (appointed 

24 June 2018).

 During the same period, five members 
resigned from the Board of Clúid Housing:
 › Noel Beecher (resigned 24 May 2018)
 › Anthony Kerr (resigned 22 March 2018)
 › Paul McGartoll (resigned 24 May 2018)
 › Harry McIntyre (resigned 24 May 2018)
 › Grainne O’Boyle (resigned 11 May 2018)

Attendance at Board Meetings  
Fiona Barron 5 of 6
Avril McDermott 6 of 6
Noel Beecher 2 of 2
Michael Cleary 5 of 6
Enda Cunningham 6 of 6
Anthony Kerr 1 of 1
Paul McGartoll 2 of 2
John-Mark McCafferty 4 of 4
Harry McIntyre 2 of 2
Paul Mooney 5 of 6
David Mullins 6 of 6
Grainne O’Boyle  2 of 2
Aidan O’Hogan 4 of 6
Kathi Ó Riain 3 of 4
Mark Shakespeare 3 of 4
    
Following restructuring, the following 
Committees were disbanded. There was only 
one meeting for each Committee before 
restructuring took place: 
 › Growing Our Business 
 › Serving Our Customers 
 › Building Our Capacity 
 › Finance and Audit.

Attendance at Growing Our Business 
Committee Meeting
Michael Cleary (Chair) 1 of 1
Eoin O’Donoghue (Co-opted) 1 of 1
Aidan O’Hogan 1 of 1
Harry McIntyre 1 of 1

Attendance at Serving Our Customers 
Committee Meeting
Anthony Kerr (Chair) 1 of 1
Paul Kelly (Co-opted) 1 of 1
Paul McGartoll 1 of 1
Grainne O’Boyle 1 of 1
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Attendance at Building Our Capacity 
Committee Meeting
Avril McDermott (Chair) 1 of 1
David Mullins 1 of 1    
Emer Lawn (Co-Opted) 1 of 1

Attendance at Finance and Audit 
Committee Meeting 
Noel Beecher (Chair) 1 of 1
Fiona Barron 1 of 1
Enda Cunningham  1 of 1
Harry McIntyre 1 of 1
Domhnall Cahill (Co-Opted) 1 of 1

The following three Committees were created 
following restructuring:
 › Audit and Risk
 › Business Development
 › Nominations and Remuneration*.

Attendance at Audit and Risk Committee 
Meetings
Enda Cunningham (Chair) 3 of 3
Kathi Ó Riain 2 of 3
Mark Shakespeare 3 of 3

Attendance at Business Development 
Committee Meetings
Aidan O’Hogan (Chair)  2 of 2
Michael Cleary  2 of 2
John-Mark McCafferty  2 of 2
Paul Mooney 1 of 2

Attendance at Nominations and 
Remunerations Committee Meetings
Avril McDermott (Chair) 2 of 2
Fiona Barron 2 of 2
Aidan O’Hogan 2 of 2

*Nominations refers to the appointment of 
Board Members; remuneration refers to the 
oversight of organisation wide remuneration 
policies and adjustments, with specific 
reference to the Executive Directors and 
senior management.
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Fiona Barron (Chair)
Fiona is proprietary Director of AMSCO 
– Alternative Management Solutions. 
Previously, she was Director of Corporate 
Services with the Society of Chartered 
Surveyors Ireland and Chief Executive of 
the Irish Property and Facility Manager’s 
Association. She is a Chartered Surveyor and 
holds an MBA from UCD Smurfit Business 
School and a Certificate of Governance from 
the IPA. Fiona has extensive experience 
in management and development in the 
property industry.

Avril McDermott (Vice Chair)
Avril is a Human Resources professional and 
spent 15 years as HR Director of Hewlett 
Packard with responsibility for Irish and 
International business units. Previously, she 
held various managerial roles in An Post 
including Communications, Training and Head 
of Employee Relations. She is a Fellow of 
CIPD and holds a Postgraduate Certificate of 
Governance (UCD). She is currently Managing 
Director of AMHR+ consultancy.

Mark Shakespeare (Treasurer) 
(appointed 24 June 2018)
Mark is Senior Director Treasury, Oil and 
Gas Sector with Montreal incorporated 
SNC-Lavalin Group. Prior to the acquisition 
of Kentz Group by SNC he was Treasurer of 
London Listed Kentz Group, and is based 
in Clonmel. He served as Treasurer of the 
McInerney Homebuilding Group for nearly 20 
years and gained experience in the private 
and social housing markets in Ireland and UK 
in that role. His previous career had been in 
the public service.

Noel Beecher  
(resigned 24 May 2018)
Noel is a Chartered Accountant and is 
Chief Risk Officer at the National Transport 
Authority. Previously, he worked with 
the Railway Procurement Agency, ECCU 
Assurance Company Limited, Mercer and 
PWC. Noel is a former Chairman and Director 
of the Retirement Planning Council of Ireland 
and is a member of the Institute of Directors.

Michael Cleary
Michael founded the property development 
and asset management company, Cleary 
McCabe & Associates in 1997. He is a 
member of the Institute of Directors in 
Ireland. Michael holds a Master’s Degree in 
Planning and Development Economics from 
Dublin Institute of Technology and is a fellow 
of the Society of Chartered Surveyors in 
Ireland and the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors.

Enda Cunningham
Enda is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland. He is currently CEO of 
Matrix Claims Services Ltd., and has 14 years’ 
experience on PLC boards; having served as 
Finance Director of Athlone Extrusions plc 
and McInerney Holdings plc. In the latter 
role he gained widespread experience of 
the UK and Irish housing markets, including 
direct experience of the Housing Association 
industry. He is a Director of the Pavilion 
Theatre and holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree from NUI Galway.

Anthony Kerr  
(resigned 22 March 2018)
Anthony is currently Director of Operations 
at Newington Housing Association; one 
of Northern Ireland’s leading community 
based housing providers. He has over 20 
years’ experience in the delivery of frontline 
housing services. He is a member of the 
Chartered Institute of Housing and holds a 
Post Graduate Diploma in Housing. Anthony 
is also a Trustee of Grow NI, a community 
development and community gardening 
charity.

John-Mark McCafferty 
(appointed 24 June 2018)
John-Mark is Chief Executive of Threshold, 
the National Housing Charity, whose 
aim is to prevent homelessness through 
advice, tenancy protection and advocacy. 
He took up this position in January 2017. 
Prior to Threshold John-Mark was Head of 
Social Justice and Policy with the Society 
of St. Vincent de Paul, working on policies 
including income, utilities policy, child 
poverty, financial inclusion, housing and 
sustainable development.
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Paul McGartoll 
(resigned 24 May 2018)
Paul is a chartered urban planner, working for 
the National Transport Authority. A recently 
returned emigrant, he previously worked 
at Transport for London (TfL) where he was 
closely involved in the planning of large-scale 
housing projects, as well as the development 
of TfL owned land. Paul has served as a 
committee member at the mentoring charity 
Reachout and at his local football club.

Harry McIntyre 
(resigned 24 May 2018)
Harry has over 40 years’ experience at a senior 
level in the Irish financial services sector, 
including five years (2010 – 2015) with NAMA 
(the National Asset Management Agency). 
Prior to that, he worked as a Banking and 
Debt Restructuring consultant and also held 
management positions in the Bank of Ireland 
and Anglo Irish Bank – Private Banking. He is a 
commerce graduate from UCD.

Paul Mooney
Paul is Managing Director of Benchmark 
Property. He is a chartered surveyor and 
member of the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors and the Society of Chartered 
Surveyors of Ireland. He has spent a number 
of years promoting professionalism in the 
property management sector. In 2011, he 
was appointed by the Minister for Justice to 
the Property Services Board. Paul lectures 
in residential property management and is a 
member of the SCSI’s Property and Facility 
Managers Professional Group.

David Mullins
David Mullins is Professor of Housing Policy 
at the University of Birmingham. For nearly 
30 years, he has led research projects on the 
role of housing associations in the delivery 
of housing policy. David is a member of the 
coordination committee of the European 
Network for Housing Research (ENHR) and 
leads the ENHR working group on Social 
Housing Governance. He has been a member 
of three housing association boards in 
England and has worked for the Housing 
Corporation and for two London Local 
Authority Housing Departments.

Grainne O’Boyle
(resigned 11 May 2018) 
Grainne is a Human Resources professional 
with over 20 years’ experience at senior level 
in the corporate sector. She formerly worked 
as Head of Employee Relations and Safety 
in Eir Group and is a Director of Positive 2 
Work Ltd., supporting lifelong learning and 
inclusion. She is a graduate of Keele University 
and holds an MA in Industrial Relations and 
HR. She is also a graduate of University 
College Dublin, with an MSc in Occupational 
Health and Safety.

Aidan O’Hogan
Aidan is Managing Director of Property 
Byte Ltd. He has over 40 years’ real-estate 
experience and is a Council Member and 
former Chair of Property Industry Ireland, a 
non-executive director of IRES REIT plc. and a 
former non-executive Director of Cairn Homes 
plc. He is a Fellow of the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors and The Society of 
Chartered Surveyors Ireland. He is a Member 
of the Friends First Property Advisory 
Committee and former Chair of the Coombe 
Women and Infants University Hospital.

Kathi Ó Riain 
(appointed 24 June 2018)
Kathi is a Partner in the Commercial Property 
Department of the Dublin law firm Eugene F. 
Collins. Originally from Cork, Kathi studied 
Law and German in UCC, before moving to 
Dublin and doing a Masters in Trinity College. 
A fluent German speaker, she worked in 
the European Commission in Berlin before 
qualifying as a solicitor in the Law Society  
of Ireland. She also spent time working in  
a large law firm in London. She has extensive 
experience in all areas of commercial  
property law and has been involved in  
many high-profile property transactions.
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The Directors present their annual report 
and the audited Financial Statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company is a registered charity. The 
report and results are being presented in a 
form which complies with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2014 and although 
not obliged to comply with the following: 
Statements of Recommended Practice (SORP) 
2014 FRS 102 – Accounting and Reporting for 
Charities, or SORP 2014 FRS 102 – Statement 
of Recommended Practice for Social Housing 
Providers, Clúid has implemented many of the 
recommendations in these Financial Statements 
where applicable.

Principal activities
The main activities of the Company are 
charitable and relate to the provision of social 
housing across a wide spectrum of housing 
needs. The objectives of Clúid are charitable 
in nature, with established charitable status 
(Registered Charity No: 20029975). All income 
is applied solely towards the promotion of the 
charitable objectives of the Company.

Clúid Housing Association is a company limited 
by guarantee, and having no share capital, 
incorporated in Ireland on 26 January 1994 
(Company Registered number 212249).

Results
The surplus for the financial year, after taxation, 
amounted to €9.03 million (2017: €8.29 million).

Overview of the business
Clúid has consistently demonstrated the 
ability to supply a significant number of new 
units each year to meet the growing need for 
social housing. It is the largest provider of 
social housing in the Republic of Ireland, with a 
development programme that is moving from 
a predominance on acquisition to construction. 
Clúid is targeting 2,200 new units over the next 
three years. 

Clúid provides more than bricks and mortar, 
offering housing solutions from general needs 
to housing for people with care and support 
needs. Clúid aims to deliver these solutions 
in an economically efficient manner, focusing 
on value for money, while meeting its core 
objective of providing a great place to live.

The year under review
As in previous years, we have continued 
to deliver a strong operating and financial 
performance. The surplus for the financial year 
2018, after taxation, amounted to €9.03 million, 
compared to €8.29 million in 2017. Turnover for 
2018 of €37.9 million was 29% higher than 2017, 
mainly due to increased unit numbers financed 
under payment and availability arrangements.

The key performance elements were as follows: 
 ›  Revenue from payment and availability up by 

67% to €15.8 million;

 › Rental income up by 11% to €19.56 million;

 ›  Staff related expenditure up by 19% to  
€10.87 million;

 ›  Repairs and scheme costs up by 15% to  
€8.22 million;

 ›  Overall income has increased by 29% 
against an increase of 26% for operational 
expenditure;

 ›  This has resulted in an increase in operating 
surplus of 44% to €8.32 million. 

Clúid reserves at the year-end amounted to 
€91 million (2017: €82 million). See Statement of 
Changes in Equity on page 59. 

Financial highlights overview
The enhanced capacity developed over the last 
number of years has enabled Clúid to support 
its stated goals of developing sustainable, 
thriving communities and providing affordable 
housing services throughout Ireland. 2018 
was a strong year for Clúid, with an operating 
surplus of €9.03 million, an increase of €0.7 
million on 2017. The stabilisation in the 
operating cost base after a number of years of 
capacity building, allied to continued growth 
in reliable income streams, has generated this 
performance.

The operating surplus, excluding housing 
stock depreciation and planned spend, was 
€8.3 million in 2018 (2017: €5.8 million). We 
are continuing to generate sufficient cash 
flow to meet operating costs and loan interest 
payments and to further invest in existing and 
new homes. 

Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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Analysis of surplus between key elements  

2018  
€’000

2017  
€’000

Movement  
€’000

Income 37,906 29,286 8,620

Expenditure (29,586) (23,522) (6,064)

Operating surplus 8,320 5,764 2,556

 

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,855) (1,063) (792)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,587 1,588 (1)

Operating surplus after planned maintenance (268) 525 (793)

 

Amortisation of government grants 11,973 12,235 (262)

Loss on sale of tangible assets (335) (523) 188

Depreciation – land and housing property (10,665) (9,715) (950)

Surplus for the financial year 973 1,997 (1,024)

 

Overall surplus 9,025 8,286 739
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Analysis of turnover
Turnover increased by 29% from €29.3 million in 2017 to €37.9 million in 2018.

Analysis of turnover 2018  
€’000

Share 
%

2017  
€’000

Share 
%

Movement 
%

Development fees 1,837 4.8% 1,698 5.8% 8.2%

Other income 499 1.3% 298 1.0% 67.4%

Management fees 200 0.5% 228 0.8% -12.3%

Availability income 15,808 41.7% 9,486 32.4% 66.6%

Rents 19,562 51.7% 17,576 60.0% 11.3%

Total income 37,906 100% 29,286 100% 29.4%

 
A significant element of this increase was the growth in income under payment and availability agreements. This has 
facilitated total borrowing of €310 million up from €205 million in 2017. These secure revenue flows have been the key driver 
in our capacity to increase the supply of new social housing units.

The breakdown of income by source was:

 

Income 2018

  Development fees 4.8%

  Other income  1.3%

  Management fees 0.5%

  Availability income 41.7%

  Rents  51.7%

Income 2017

  Development fees 5.8%

  Other income  1.0%

  Management fees 0.8%

  Availability income 32.4%

  Rents  60.0%
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Operating spend has grown over a number of years, with the key growth being in staff-related expenditure, interest payable 
and scheme-related costs. This is in line with expectation as the Company has grown turnover and unit numbers over the 
same period. The cost of funding arising from unit growth has seen interest payable grow by 56% in 2018 over 2017. It now 
represents 22% of costs in 2018 (2017: 18%). There has also been a continued growth in repairs and scheme costs of 15% in 
2018 over 2017. It now represents 28% of costs in 2018 (2017: 31%). Within the repairs and scheme costs, two key elements 
are of note in 2018 over 2017. A provision of €1.1m was included for works related to defects on a large Owners Management 
Company, where Clúid owns a significant number of properties. Clúid Works, our in-house repairs service, was launched 
which has resulted in a significant movement in staff costs of €1 million in 2018, which are directly repairs-related, but shown 
under staff-related costs. The introduction of Clúid Works has allowed greater access to repair services for customers and 
quicker response times, so enabling Clúid to better maintain its assets and meet its customers’ needs. 

The continued development of our service has incurred an initial growth in costs, however it is aimed at driving efficiencies 
long term and enhancing the safeguarding of our property assets for the future. Clúid has developed into a large-scale 
provider and manager of social and affordable units that are sustainable and that are places of choice for people to live.

The breakdown of costs by type was:

 

Analysis of expenditure
Operating expenses increased by 26% to €29.6 million (up from €23.5 million in 2017).

Analysis of Expenditure 2018  
€’000

Share 
%

2017  
€’000

Share 
%

Movement 
%

Depreciation (exc. Property assets) 967 3.3% 433 1.8% -123.3%

Development costs 106 0.3% 74 0.3% -43.2%

General business running costs 1,549 5.2% 1,272 5.4% -21.8%

Insurance 800 2.7% 776 3.3% -3.1%

Interest payable 6,489 21.9% 4,150 17.6% -56.4%

Professional and consultancy 608 2.0% 520 2.2% -16.9%

Repairs and scheme costs 8,220 27.8% 7,164 30.5% -14.7%

Staff-related costs 10,847 36.8% 9,133 38.8% -18.8%

Total expenditure 29,586 100% 23,522 100% -25.8%

Expenditure 2018

  Depreciation (exc. property assets):  3.3%

  Development costs: 0.3%

  General business running costs:  5.2%

  Insurance:  2.7%

  Interest payable:  21.9%

  Professional and consultancy:  2%

  Repairs and scheme costs:  27.8%

  Staff-related costs:  36.8%

Expenditure 2017

  Depreciation (exc. property assets):  1.8%

  Development costs:  0.3%

  General Business running costs:  5.4%

  Insurance:  3.3%

  Interest payable:  17.6%

  Professional and consultancy:  2.2%

  Repairs and scheme costs:  30.5%

  Staff-related costs:  38.8%
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Non-operating activities
The surplus related to non-operating activities decreased by €1.8 million to €0.7 million in 2018.

Analysis of non-operating activities 2018  
€’000

2017  
€’000

Movement 
€’000

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,855) (1,063) (792)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,587 1,588 (1)

(Deficit)/Surplus on maintenance costs (268) 525 (793)

Amortisation of government grants 11,973 12,235 (262)

Loss on sale of tangible assets (335) (523) 188

Depreciation – land and housing property (10,665) (9,715) (950)

Depreciation – land and housing 973 1,997 (1,024)

 

Surplus relating to non-operating activities 705 2,522 (1,817)

The key drivers of this movement were:  

 ›  The planned maintenance, after management and maintenance allowance, reflects 
increased spend within the programme. Cyclical spend is anticipated to grow over 
coming years, due to the continued ageing of Clúid’s stock of CLSS homes and enhanced 
regulatory requirements. 

 ›  The management and maintenance subsidy for CLSS remained consistent with previous 
years as the rates receivable have not been amended. The non-movement in the rates 
applicable is a cause for concern and we will continue to actively seek an appropriate 
increase for future years. The financial risk of not achieving an increase has been factored 
into our long-term financial planning. The ending of the CLSS funding model also means 
that there is a limit to the number of units involved.

 ›  The movement in the net effect of the amortisation of CLSS and CAS grants against 
depreciation of Clúid’s residential stock has moved by €1 million in the year and reflects 
both the effect of the component replacement capitalisation and the strength of the actual 
component life, with some component assets exceeding expected life norms.

Balance sheet
Clúid has borrowings of €310 million, sourced since 2013, to supply new social housing, 
by utilising the CALF and PAA funding model. This is based on the historic strength of 
its balance sheet, built over time through strategic long-term investment decisions and a 
prudent approach to growth and risk. Clúid intends to continue this level of growth in the 
coming years, further strengthening its balance sheet to achieve a sustainable business 
model and continued growth. 

Some key parameters at 31 December 2018 were: 

 ›  The value of Clúid’s housing properties, excluding freehold properties, at historic cost less 
depreciation totalled €813 million with additions of €109 million in the year;

 › Homes under management now total 6,765 units;

 › Clúid has plans and capacity to develop a further 2,200 homes over the next three years;

 › During the year Clúid drew down CALF and HFA funding of €105 million; 

 ›  At 31 December 2018, the drawdown of CALF and HFA loans totalled €310 million,  
with €310 million outstanding at year end 2018;

 › Reserves stood at €91 million at 31 December 2018. 
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Capital structure and treasury policy
Debt management is the responsibility of the Director of Finance and Corporate Services. 
The borrowing requirement is set annually and approved by the Board as part of the business 
plan review. The current interest rate strategy was reviewed in 2017 with an analysis of the 
existing profile outlined below.

Loan Type Interest 
Rate

Outstanding 
balance  

€’000

AHB EIB Fixed 2.750% 49,419

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 2.500% 91,811

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 2.750% 6,931

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.000% 13,926

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.350% 9,290

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.500% 8,154

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.850% 17,519

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 4.850% 3,983

AHB Variable Loan Finance 2.678% 23,435

CALF 2.000% 82,385

Non Residential Fixed Rate 3.50% 2,627

Non Residential Fixed Rate 3.75% 473

Grand Total 309,953

How we utilise our financial strength
Clúid is financially strong and independent, which gives us the capacity to make choices 
about our future direction. All the money that we make is reinvested in what we do, as 
there are no shareholders to whom we must pay a dividend. We aim to be efficient in how 
we operate, so that we can make best use of our financial resources to maximise the social 
dividend created from the utilisation of our assets. We aim to generate growing surpluses,  
to enable future funding from private investors and public-sector partners. We regularly 
stress-test our financial plans, to ensure we are resilient to changes in economic conditions  
in relation to internal and external factors.

Key objective Comment

We will use our surplus to be financially 
strong, resilient and independent so we are 
sustainable for the future. We will achieve 
this by growing our annual surplus excluding 
depreciation and amortisation in future 
years to finance our housing investment 
programme.

We have generated a surplus of €9m in 
2018, with plans to continue to grow the 
surplus in future years. 

We will continue to provide new homes, 
spending at least €0.54 billion by 2021.

We have spent €110m on property 
development in the year. This is below our 
target of €148m. It is anticipated that the 
initial year short-fall will be made up over the 
subsequent years of the plan.

We want investors to choose to partner  
with us.

New facility funding is being developed to 
fund the current three-year plan alongside 
existing investor partnerships.
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Our people our work
Clúid develops and delivers new housing 
solutions and manages tenancy relationships  
for a large stock portfolio and maintains a 
property asset base of €0.9 billion. To achieve 
this, we work in different teams and with 
different customers, but we all play a role in 
building more homes, providing attractive 
and safe environments, and offering the best 
customer service. 

We draw on the skill and enthusiasm of our 
biggest asset, our staff. We set ourselves high 
standards and apply commercial discipline to 
every aspect of our business. We try to learn 
from others and from listening carefully to our 
staff and residents. We embrace new ways of 
working for our staff, as well as our customers, 
to increase efficiency and to reduce waste, 
bureaucracy, paper and time. We have made 
a major investment in 2018 in the delivery of a 
suite of fully integrated IT solutions to support 
the transformation of Clúid’s service delivery 
and enhance business processes.

Key objective Comment

We will make work easier and 
more rewarding for our staff by 
creating a strong and flexible 
working environment.

We worked hard to implement the 
first integrated housing, property 
services and finance system 
in partnership with Castleton. 
This implementation delivered 
automated and efficient processes 
and new ways of working.

We will have a skilled and talented 
workforce and we commit to 
developing our staff so we 
can promote people internally 
whenever possible.

We have created a leadership 
team structure to manage 
the business, widening the 
management structure to 
enable a wider group of staff to 
influence the future growth and 
development of Clúid.

Assets €million

  Property assets - CAS  54 

  Property assets - CLS  448 

  Property assets - Debt  311 

  Office properties  6 

  Other fixed assets  1 

  Current assets  31 

Financed By €million

  Grants - CAS   51 

  Grants - CLS  387 

  Grants - Capital  2 

  Loans - HFA & CALF  309 

  Loans - Ulster Bank  3 

  Current liabilities  17 

  Reserves  91 
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Providing more new housing solutions
There continues to be a housing shortage  
in Ireland, especially of homes that lower-  
and middle-income individuals and families  
can afford. Clúid is absolutely committed  
to producing as many new homes as it can  
each year to provide a range of options to  
meet this need.

Key objective Comment

Clúid will develop new solutions 
to meet housing need across 
several tenure types.

Progress on this objective has 
been slower in both the delivery 
of homes and the creation of a 
new solution to meet a wider 
range of housing needs. We will 
continue with the work already 
done and persist with developing 
a workable solution until we 
achieve this objective.

We will invest in new homes to 
meet the needs across the whole 
residential housing sector.

At December 2018, we have 
development commitments worth 
€113 million which will directly link 
to new houses in 2019 and 2020. 
It is our intention to expand our 
building contracts in future years.

Our target is to supply at least 
2,200 homes over the next  
three years.

We have a strong pipeline of 
land identified for development 
and we expect to meet our 
long-term growth aspirations. 
We have moved our focus 
to the development of our 
own construction pipeline to 
strengthen certainty over the 
delivery of new homes. 

Staff Composition by Gender

  Male  55% 

  Female  45% 

Staff Composition by Age

  Under 25 years  0% 

  25 to 34 years  20% 

  35 to 50 years  59% 

  Over 50 years  21% 
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Closer partnerships
In Clúid we believe we can achieve more in partnership than we can alone and we have 
always used partnerships to help us provide more homes. To deal with the changes and 
challenges ahead, we will link with partners from the private, local authority and housing 
association sectors to create new opportunities and a stronger delivery of new homes. 
The scope of partnerships has grown and will continue to grow as the largest housing 
associations gain greater financial strength and look to enhance their development capacity. 
Clúid sees itself at the forefront of this growth across different tenure models.

Key objective Comment

We will work more closely with key 
stakeholders.

We have worked closely with all levels of 
Government and governmental agencies 
in 2018 to assist in the development of new 
funding streams and in response to the 
classification of the sector.

We will be open to joint ventures and much 
closer long-term relationships with private-
sector partners.

In 2018, we have developed strong relations 
with key partners with a focus on increasing 
the scale of developments and supply of 
social and affordable units. We are hopeful 
these will come to fruition in 2019.

We will build stronger relationships with 
like-minded housing associations with the 
aim of improving the focus of the sector and 
our capacity to deliver housing solutions.

We have, in 2018, along with several other 
housing associations formed an alliance 
to promote the housing association sector 
and to work together as one voice for the 
development of workable housing solutions.

Governance
Clúid is governed by a board (‘the Board’) 
composed of non-executive members. 
Details of Board Members, who are drawn 
from a range of backgrounds, are set out on 
the Company Information page. The Board 
delegates some of its responsibilities to 
Committees, which each has a key business 
remit. Each of these Committees has clear 
terms of reference and delegated authority. 
They report back to the Board at each 
meeting, where their recommendations 
are considered and approved, where 
appropriate. The committee structure was 
reviewed in 2018 to ensure it was aligned 
with best practice and to meet the next 
stage in Clúid’s growth.

There are three main functional Committees 
within the Company: the Audit and 
Risk Committee, the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee and the Business 
Development Committee. 

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee oversees 
the work of the external and internal 
audit functions. The Committee reviews 
the audited financial statements for the 
Company and recommends them to the 
Board for approval. Through the reports 
it receives, the Committee gains external 
assurance that the Company has appropriate 
systems of internal control and complies with 
the regulatory expectations in this area. It 
also oversees the company risk management 
framework and value for money programme.

Business Development Committee
The Business Development Committee 
is convened to consider new business 
opportunities, strategic investment and 
customer service. Discussions this year have 
included: an approach to mixed tenure 
developments; land purchase opportunities 
and constraints; the creation of a 
separately branded older persons’ service; 
resident engagement; and reviewing the 
implementation of Clúid Works. 
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Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee
The Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee is convened to review the 
structure, skill, experience, and succession 
planning for the Board. It approves the 
remuneration policy, including pension and 
any other compensation payments. 
 
The Leadership Team 
Clúid is managed by a Leadership Team. 
This is split between the Executive Team 
and the Operations Team. The Executive 
Team is headed by the Chief Executive 
and supported by Directors of Finance and 
Corporate Services, Housing Management, 
Property Services, New Business, and Human 
Resources. It is tasked with managing the 
strategic direction of Clúid and is responsible 
for the overall management of Clúid. The 
Operations Team is comprised of managers 
from across the business tasked with the 
operational implementation and review of 
company performance.

Executives and other staff are not company 
members and act as executives within the 
authority delegated by the Board. The 
Executive Team meets twice monthly.

Directors
The Directors who served during the 
financial year were:

Fiona Barron (Chair)

Avril McDermott (Vice Chair)

Mark Shakespeare (Treasurer)  
(appointed 24 June 2018)

Noel Beecher  
(resigned 24 May 2018)

Michael Cleary

Enda Cunningham

Anthony Kerr  
(resigned 22 March 2018)

John-Mark McCafferty  
(appointed 24 June 2018)

Paul McGartoll  
(resigned 24 May 2018)

Harry McIntyre  
(resigned 24 May 2018)

Paul Mooney

David Mullins

Grainne O’Boyle  
(resigned 11 May 2018)

Aidan O’Hogan

Kathi Ó’Riain  
(appointed 24 June 2018)

Principal risks and uncertainties
 
Capital structure and treasury management
Treasury activities focus on ensuring that 
Clúid has access to sufficient levels of cash 
and facilities to enable it to meet its short-
term funding requirements. Clúid plans to 
have facilities available at all times at an 
acceptable cost, in accordance with the 
annual budget as approved by the Board. 
Clúid treasury management is designed 
to mitigate the impact of any adverse 
movements in interest rates, to ensure that 
loan covenants are met and to rank the 
preservation of capital ahead of returns when 
making investment decisions.

Debt repayment profile
The table at Note 18 to the Financial 
Statements, shows an analysis of the 
anticipated contractual cash flows
including interest payable for Clúid’s 
loans on an undiscounted basis. Interest is 
calculated on drawn down debt held as at 
31 December 2018. For the purposes of this 
table, debt is defined as drawn down. The 
interest on debt is calculated by reference to 
the underlying loan agreement and the rate 
applicable at the balance sheet date.

Cash management and counterparty risk
Detailed 12-month rolling cash flow forecasts 
are prepared and reviewed each quarter, 
in addition to longer term forecasts linked 
to our business plan. We aim to operate a 
conservative counterparty risk management 
strategy. The strategy aims to minimise 
the risk of a financial loss, reputational 
loss or liquidity exposure resulting from a 
counterparty risk to any treasury transaction 
becoming insolvent.

Currency risk
Clúid borrows and invests surplus cash only 
in euro and does not have any currency risk.

Interest rate management
At 31 December 2018, 93% of Clúid’s drawn 
down debt was fixed (2017: 87%) – this was 
split 27% CALF, 65% HFA and 1.0% non 
residential. Clúid manages its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest rates on long-term debt 
by ensuring the net exposure to interest rates 
will, at all times, comprise of an appropriate 
mix of fixed and variable rate funding. 

Loan covenant compliance
Loan covenants are regularly reviewed, 
and compliance reported to the Board. All 
covenants were met throughout the year for 
all loan facilities.
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Health and safety of employees
The wellbeing of the Company’s employees 
is safeguarded through strict adherence to 
health and safety standards. Health and safety 
legislation imposes certain requirements on 
employers and the Company has taken the 
necessary action to ensure compliance with 
the legislation, including the adoption of a 
safety statement.

Environmental matters
The Company will seek to minimise adverse 
impacts on the environment from its activities, 
while continuing to address health, safety and 
economic issues. To the best of its knowledge, 
the Company has complied with all applicable 
legislation and regulations.

Accounting records
The measures taken by the Directors to ensure 
compliance with the requirements of Sections 
281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014 with 
regard to the keeping of accounting records, 
are the employment of appropriately qualified 
accounting personnel and the maintenance 
of computerised accounting systems. The 
Company’s accounting records are maintained 
at the company’s registered office at 159-161 
Sheriff Street Upper, Dublin 1.

Events since the end of the year
There have been no significant events 
affecting the Company since the year end. 

Future developments
The Company plans to continue in its present 
activities.

Statement of relevant audit 
information
Each of the persons who are Directors at the 
time when this Directors’ report is approved 
has confirmed that: 

 ›  As far as the Director is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s Auditors are unaware, and

 ›  The Director has taken all the steps that 
ought to have been taken as a Director 
in order to be aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the 
Company’s Auditors are aware of that 
information.

Auditors
The Auditors, Grant Thornton, continue in 
office in accordance with Section 383(2) of the 
Companies Act 2014.

This report was approved by the Board on  
21 February 2019 and signed on its behalf.
 

 

Fiona Barron (Chair) Mark Shakespeare (Treasurer)
Director    Director

Date: 21 February 2019
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

The Directors are responsible for preparing 
the Directors’ report and the financial 
statements in accordance with Irish law and 
regulations.

Irish company law requires the Directors 
to prepare the financial statements for 
each financial year. Under the law, the 
Directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2014 and Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland’.

Under company law, the Directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Company as at the financial 
year end date, of the profit or loss for that 
financial year and otherwise comply with the 
Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Directors are required to:

 ›  Select suitable accounting policies for the 
Company’s financial statements and then 
apply them consistently;

 ›  Make judgments and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

 ›  State whether the financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the effect and 
the reasons for any material departure 
from those standards; and

 ›  Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring 
that the Company keeps or causes to be 
kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions 
of the Company; enable at any time the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit 
or loss of the Company to be determined 
with reasonable accuracy; enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements 
and Directors’ report comply with the 
Companies Act 2014; and enable the 
financial statements to be audited. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and, hence, for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
Company’s website. Legislation in Republic 
of Ireland governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

On behalf of the Board 

Fiona Barron (Chair) Mark Shakespeare (Treasurer)
Director    Director

Date: 21 February 2019
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of 
Clúid Housing Association, which comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement 
of Changes in Equity for the Financial Year 
ended 31 December 2018, and the related 
notes to the financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation of 
the financial statements is Irish law and 
accounting standards issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council including FRS 102 ‘The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Clúid Housing Association’s 
financial statements:

 ›  Give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the Company as 
at 31 December 2018 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended; and 

 ›  Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the ‘Responsibilities 
of the Auditor for the audit of the financial 
statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of financial statements 
in Ireland, namely the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA) 
Ethical Standard concerning the integrity, 
objectivity and independence of the auditor, 
and the ethical pronouncements established 
by Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied 
as determined to be appropriate in the 
circumstances for the entity. 

We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient  
and appropriate to provide a basis for  
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going 
concern
 We have nothing to report in respect  
of the following matters in relation to which 
the ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to  
you where:

 ›  The Directors’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

 ›  The Directors have not disclosed in 
the financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period 
of at least 12 months from the date when 
the financial statements are authorised 
for issue. 

Other information 
Other information comprises information 
included in the Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our 
Auditor’s Report thereon. The Directors 
are responsible for the other information. 
Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies in the financial statements, 
we are required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. 

Independent Auditors’ Report to the 
members of the Clúid Housing Association
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If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by the Companies  
Act 2014
 
 ›  We have obtained all the information and 

explanations which we consider necessary 
for the purposes of our audit.

 ›  In our opinion, the accounting records of 
the Company were sufficient to permit 
the financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited.

 ›  The financial statements are in agreement 
with the accounting records.

 ›  In our opinion, the information given in 
the Directors’ report is consistent with 
the financial statements. Based solely on 
the work undertaken in the course of our 
audit, in our opinion, the Directors’ report 
has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception
Based on our knowledge and understanding 
of the Company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified material misstatements in the 
Directors’ report.

Under the Companies Act 2014, we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
and transactions specified by Sections 305 
to 312 of the Acts have not been made. We 
have no exceptions to report arising from 
this responsibility.

Responsibilities of the management 
and those charged with governance 
for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities Statement, management 
is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements which give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, 
including FRS102, and for such internal 
control as they determine necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting, unless 
the management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the Auditor 
for the audit of the financial 
statements
The Auditor’s objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an Auditor’s Report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise 
professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. They will also:

 ›  Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

 ›  Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
of the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control.
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 ›  Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by 
management.

 ›  Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s  
ability to continue as a going concern.  
If they conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, they are required to 
draw attention in the Auditor’s Report 
to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify their opinion. 
Their conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

 ›  Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures,  
and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves a true 
and fair view.

The Auditor shall communicate with those 
charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that may be identified during 
the audit.

The purpose of our audit work 
and to whom we owe our 
responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Company and the 
Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Noel Delaney FCA
for and on behalf of
Grant Thornton

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Audit Firm
13 18 City Quay
Dublin 2

Date: 21 February 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

 Note 2018  
€

2017  
€

Turnover 3 37,905,937 29,286,133

Gross profit 37,905,937 29,286,133

Administrative expenses (34,096,140) (29,609,993)

Other operating income  4 11,972,617 12,235,056

(Deficit)/surplus on maintenance costs (268,477) 525,104

Operating profit  6 15,513,937 12,436,300

Interest receivable and similar income  10 1,094 715

Interest payable and expenses  11 (6,489,921) (4,150,773)

Profit before tax 9,025,110 8,286,242

Profit for the financial year 9,025,110 8,286,242

 
There were no recognised gains and losses for 2018 or 2017 other than those included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

There was no other comprehensive income for 2018 (2017: €Nil).

The notes on pages 61 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2018

 Note 2018  
€

2017  
€

Fixed assets  

Tangible assets  12 820,102,209  721,936,579

 820,102,209 721,936,579

 

Current assets  

Stocks  13 186,811 90,405

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year  14 8,959,602 4,931,564

Cash at bank and in hand  15 21,825,335 17,003,063

 30,971,748 22,025,032

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  16 (16,507,594) (15,038,677)

Net current assets  14,464,154 6,986,355

Total assets less current liabilities  834,566,363 728,922,934

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  17 (743,421,996) (646,803,677)

Net assets  91,144,367 82,119,257

Capital and reserves  

Designated reserve  20 23,789,489  23,789,489

Deferred amortisation reserve  20 57,257,864  51,076,027

Other restricted reserve  20 785,500 785,500

Income and expenditure account  20 9,311,514 6,468,241

Shareholders’ funds  91,144,367 82,119,257

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board:

Fiona Barron (Chair) Mark Shakespeare (Treasurer)
Director   Director
Date: 21 February 2019 

The notes on pages 61 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Designated 
reserve  

€

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve 
€

Other 
restricted 

reserve 
€

Income and 
expenditure 

account 
€

Total  
reserves 

€

At 1 January 2018 23,789,489 51,076,027 785,500 6,468,241  82,119,257

Surplus for the financial year - - - 9,025,110 9,025,110

Transfer to/from income and expenditure - 6,181,837 - (6,181,837) -

At 31 December 2018 23,789,489 57,257,864 785,500 9,311,514 91,144,367

 
The notes on pages 61 to 76 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Designated 
reserve  

€

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve 
€

Other 
restricted 

reserve 
€

Income and 
expenditure 

account 
€

Total  
reserves 

€

At 1 January 2017 23,789,489 45,501,239 785,500 3,756,787 73,833,015

Surplus for the financial year - - - 8,286,242 8,286,242

Transfer to/from income and expenditure account - 5,574,788 - (5,574,788) -

At 31 December 2017 23,789,489 51,076,027 785,500 6,468,241 82,119,257

The notes on pages 61 to 76 form part of these financial statements.

 



60

Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

2018  
€

2017 
€

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year 9,025,110  8,286,242

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets 11,631,299 10,148,083

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 334,549 522,695

Amortisation of government grants (11,972,617) (12,235,056)

Interest paid 6,489,921 4,150,773

Interest received (1,094) (715)

Increase in stocks (96,406) (31,120)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (4,028,037) 432,746

Increase in creditors 3,343,460 250,860

Net cash generated from operating activities 14,726,185 11,524,508

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (110,131,478) (110,636,210)

Sale of tangible fixed assets - 30,699

Interest received 1,094 715

Net cash from investing activities (110,130,384) (110,604,796)

Cash flows from financing activities

New secured loans 105,038,614 100,211,155

Interest paid (6,489,921) (4,150,773)

Government grants received 1,677,778 6,155,280

Net cash used in financing activities 100,226,471 102,215,662

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,822,272 3,135,374

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 17,003,063 13,867,689

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 21,825,335 17,003,063

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 21,825,335 17,003,063

21,825,335 17,003,063

  
The notes on pages 61 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 

1. Accounting policies

1.1 Company information
Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee, having no share 
capital, incorporated in Ireland on 26 
January 1994 (Company number 212249).  
It is a registered charity.

1.2 Basis of preparation of  
financial statements
The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102, the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the United 
Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and 
Irish statute comprising of the Companies 
Act 2014.

The preparation of financial statements in 
compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgment 
in applying the company’s accounting 
policies (see Note 2).

In preparing the financial statements, 
the Company has referred to guidance 
included within the following Statements of 
Recommended Practice (SORPs): Accounting 
and Reporting for Charities, 2014 FRS 
102 and Accounting by Registered Social 
Housing Providers, Update 2014 FRS 102. 
The Company has adopted best practice 
to the extent that requirements contained 
within the aforementioned SORPs are 
applicable to the Company.

1.3 Turnover
Turnover represents rental income 
receivable from residents, management 
fees, development fees and revenue 
grants receivable from local authorities, 
the Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government and the Health Service 
Executive. Turnover is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable net of value added tax.

1.4 Development fees
Development fees receivable are credited 
to income in the period in which the 
development work is undertaken.

1.5 Management and  
maintenance subsidies
Management and maintenance subsidies 
are payable annually by the local authorities 
to the Company in respect of projects 
completed under the Capital Loan and 
Subsidy Scheme (CLSS).

1.6 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets under the cost model 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Historical cost  
includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate 
the cost of assets less their residual value 
over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight line method.

Depreciation is provided on the  
following basis:

Land and housing properties see below

Freehold property 2-3% straight line

Plant and machinery 33% straight line

Motor vehicles 20% straight line

Office equipment 25% straight line

Computer equipment 33% straight line

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation methods are reviewed, and 
adjusted prospectively if appropriate, or if 
there is an indication of a significant change 
since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.
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1.7 Land and housing properties
Housing properties are properties available 
for rent, which are held at cost less 
depreciation. Housing properties in the 
course of development are also stated at 
cost. Housing properties have been split 
between their land and structure costs and 
a specific set of major components which 
require periodic replacement.

Components are depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the component 
(excluding land), as follows:

Component Useful economic life 
(years) 

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60

Heating 15 

Windows 30 

Electrical 30 

Bathroom 30 

Kitchen 20 

Lift 40

Cost includes the cost of acquiring land 
and buildings, cost of construction and 
capitalised interest. Freehold land is not 
depreciated. Depreciation is charged on 
completed housing properties, excluding 
the land element, on a straight line basis 
over the useful economic life of the 
component. Interest incurred on a loan 
financing a development is capitalised up to 
the date of the practical completion of the 
scheme.
  
1.8 Housing loans
Specific loans are advanced by the 
Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and by the 
Department of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government under the Capital Advance 
Leasing Facility (CALF), subject to the terms 
of individual loan agreements. Interest and 
capital repayments are required to be made 
in respect of these loans.

1.9 Operating leases: the Company  
as lessee
Rentals paid under operating leases are 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight line basis over the  
lease term.

Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease are 
recognised on a straight line basis over the 
period until the date the rent is expected to 
be adjusted to the prevailing market rate.

1.10 Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value, being the estimated selling 
price less costs to complete and sell. Cost is 
based on the cost of purchase on a first-in, 
first-out basis. Work in progress and finished 
goods include labour and attributable 
overheads.

At each reporting date, stocks are assessed 
for impairment. If stock is impaired, the 
carrying amount is reduced to its selling 
price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

1.11 Debtors
Short-term debtors are measured at 
transaction price, less any impairment. 
Loans receivable are measured initially at fair 
value, including transaction costs, and are 
measured subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.

1.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and 
deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 
24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in no more than 
three months from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the Company’s cash 
management.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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1.13 Financial instruments
The Company only enters into basic 
financial instrument transactions that result 
in the recognition of financial assets and 
liabilities such as trade and other debtors 
and creditors, loans from banks and other 
third parties, loans to related parties and 
investments in non puttable ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those 
wholly repayable or receivable within one 
year), including loans and other accounts 
receivable and payable, are initially 
measured at present value of the future cash 
flows and subsequently at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method. Debt 
instruments that are payable or receivable 
within one year, typically trade debtors 
and creditors, are measured, initially and 
subsequently, at the undiscounted amount 
of the cash or other consideration expected 
to be paid or received. However, if the 
arrangements of a short-term instrument 
constitute a financing transaction, such 
as the payment of a trade debt deferred 
beyond normal business terms or financed at 
a rate of interest that is not a market rate or 
in the case of an outright short-term loan not 
at market rate, the financial asset or liability 
is measured, initially, at the present value of 
the future cash flow discounted at a market 
rate of interest for a similar debt instrument 
and subsequently at amortised cost.

Investments in non convertible preference 
shares and in non puttable ordinary and 
preference shares are measured: 

 ›  At fair value with changes recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
if the shares are publicly traded or their 
fair value can otherwise be measured 
reliably;

 ›  At cost less impairment for all other 
investments.

Financial assets that are measured at 
cost and amortised cost are assessed 
at the end of each reporting period for 
objective evidence of impairment. If 
objective evidence of impairment is found, 
an impairment loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, the impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between an asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has 
a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the 
contract.

For financial assets measured at cost 
less impairment, the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between an 
asset’s carrying amount and best estimate 
of the recoverable amount, which is an 
approximation of the amount that the 
Company would receive for the asset if it 
were to be sold at the reporting date.

Financial Assets and Liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the Statement 
of Financial Position when there is an 
enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps 
and forward foreign exchange contracts, are 
not basic financial instruments. Derivatives 
are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re measured at 
their fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
derivatives are recognised in profit or loss in 
finance costs or income as appropriate. The 
Company does not currently apply hedge 
accounting for interest rate and foreign 
exchange derivatives.

1.14 Creditors
Short-term creditors are measured at the 
transaction price. Other financial liabilities, 
including bank loans, are measured initially 
at fair value, including transaction costs, and 
are measured subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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1.15 Government grants
In line with changes required under FRS 102 
the previous treatment of amounts advanced 
by local authorities and the Department of 
Housing Planning and Local Government, 
under the Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS) and the Capital Assistance Scheme 
(CAS) as loans amount have been changed, 
with these amounts now being classified 
as Government Grants. As a result, where 
housing developments have been financed 
wholly or partly by such grants the value 
of the related grant for the development is 
shown net of amortisation. Grants relating 
to assets are recognised in income on a 
systematic basis over the aggregate useful 
life for the housing assets of 50 years.

Grants are accounted under the accruals 
model as permitted by FRS 102. Grants 
relating to expenditure on tangible fixed 
assets are credited to the Income Statement 
at the same rate as the depreciation on the 
assets to which the grant relates. 

Grants of a revenue nature are recognised in 
the Income Statement in the same period as 
the related expenditure.

1.16 Finance costs
Finance costs are charged to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income over the term 
of the debt using the effective interest 
method, so that the amount charged is at a 
constant rate on the carrying amount. Issue 
costs are initially recognised as a reduction 
in the proceeds of the associated capital 
instrument.

1.17 Pensions
Defined contribution pension plan
The Company operates a defined 
contribution plan for its employees.  
A defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Company pays 
fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
Once the contributions have been paid 
the Company has no further payment 
obligations.

The contributions are recognised as  
an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when they fall  
due. Amounts not paid are shown in 
accruals as a liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position. The assets of the plan 
are held separately from the Company in 
independently administered funds.
 
1.18 Holiday pay accrual
A liability is recognised to the extent of any 
unused holiday pay entitlement which is 
accrued at the financial year end date and 
carried forward to future periods. This is 
measured at the undiscounted salary cost of 
the future holiday entitlement so accrued at 
the Statement of Financial Position date.

1.19 Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income using 
the effective interest method.
  
1.20 Designated reserve
The Company holds a designated reserve 
for the long-term maintenance of the 
Company’s properties. Funds transferred 
into this reserve each year are based on 
an assessment of the long-term amounts 
required, as reflected in the annual stock 
condition survey.

Funds historically transferred out of reserves 
each year are based on actual spend on an 
agreed planned maintenance programme, 
which reflects the needs of our tenants and 
the adequate maintenance of housing stock.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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2. Judgments in applying 
accounting policies and key  
sources of estimation uncertainty
Preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make significant 
judgements and estimates. The items in the 
financial statements where these judgments 
and estimates have been made include:

Allowances for impairment of  
trade receivables 
The Company estimates the allowance 
for doubtful trade receivables based on 
assessment of specific accounts where  
the Company has objective evidence 
comprising default in payment terms or 
significant financial difficulty that certain 
tenants are unable to meet their financial 
obligations. In these cases, judgment used 
was based on the best available facts and 
circumstances including but not limited to, 
the length of relationship. At 31 December 
2018, provisions for doubtful debts 
amounted to €344,023 which represents  
5% of trade receivables at that date  
(2017: €732,001 – 31.8%). 

Useful lives of depreciable assets
The annual depreciation charge depends 
primarily on the estimated lives of each 
type and component of asset and, in certain 
circumstances, estimates of fair values and 
residual values. 

Alongside this, the amortisation of 
government grants is also affected by the 
useful lives of the assets to which they 
relate as grants on expenditure of tangible 
fixed assets. They are credited to the 
Income Statement at the same rate as the 
depreciation on the assets to which the 
grant relates.

The Directors annually review these asset 
lives and adjust them as necessary, to reflect 
current thinking on remaining lives in light  
of technological change, prospective 
economic utilisation and the physical 
condition of the assets concerned. Changes 
in asset lives can have significant impact on 
depreciation charges for the period. It is  
not practical to quantify the impact of 
changes in asset lives on an overall basis,  
as asset lives are individually determined, 
and there are a significant number of asset 
lives in use. The impact of any change 
would vary significantly depending on the 
individual changes in assets and the classes 
of assets impacted. 
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3. Turnover
An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2018  
€

2017 
€

Development fees 1,836,895 1,697,739

Other income 498,589 298,187

Management fees 200,156 227,838

Availability income 15,808,389 9,486,446

Rents 19,561,908 17,575,923

37,905,937 29,286,133

   
All turnover arose in Ireland.

4. Other operating income

2018  
€

2017 
€

Amortisation of government grants 11,972,617 12,235,056

11,972,617 12,235,056

 
   
5. (Deficit)/surplus on maintenance costs

2018  
€

2017 
€

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,855,434) (1,063,197)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,586,957 1,588,301

(Deficit)/surplus (268,477) 525,104

6. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation
The operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting):

2018  
€

2017 
€

Development charged as an expense 105,589 73,927

Amortisation of government grants (11,972,617) (12,235,056)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 11,631,299 10,148,083

Rent - operating leases 39,420 73,390

Motor vehicles - operating leases 314,850 163,951

Defined contribution pension cost 457,661 299,394
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018

7. Taxation
As a result of the Company’s charitable status, no charge to corporation tax arises under the 
provision of Section 207 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.

8. Employees
Staff costs were as follows: 

2018  
€

2017 
€

Wages and salaries 7,979,417 6,932,694

Social security costs 848,499 740,232

Cost of defined contribution scheme 457,661 299,394

9,285,577 7,972,320

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €519,161 (2017: €358,794).

The average monthly number of employees, during the financial year was as follows:

2018 
Number

2017 
Number

Employees  186  164

 
Salary banding for all employees earning over €50,000 (including salaries, performance 
related pay and benefits in kind but excluding pension contributions paid by the employer 
and any termination payments):
 

2018 
Number

2017 
Number

€50,000 to €60,000 13 18

€60,000 to €70,000 26  20

€70,000 to €80,000 7 5

€80,000 to €90,000 7 5

€90,000 to €100,000 4 4

€100,000 to €110,000 2 1

€110,000 to €120,000 2 2

 61 55

  
The Company commissioned Towers Watson to undertake a review of its salaries and 
benefits in 2018. The review is based upon comparison with the private, public and non 
profit sectors. The Chief Executive’s salary in 2018 was €120,000.
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9. Directors’ remuneration
The Directors do not receive any remuneration in respect of the company. 

    
10. Interest receivable

2018  
€

2017 
€

Other interest receivable 1,094 715

1,094 715

11. Interest payable and similar expenses

2018  
€

2017 
€

Interest payable to credit institutions 6,489,921 4,150,773

6,489,921 4,150,773
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13. Stocks

2018  
€

2017 
€

Finished goods and goods for resale 186,811 90,405

186,811 90,405

   

14. Debtors

2018  
€

2017 
€

Trade debtors 5,714,617 2,305,037

Prepayments 539,866 633,523

Accrued income 2,705,119 1,993,004

8,959,602 4,931,564

 
Included within debtor balances are provisions in respect of bad debts for  
€344,023 (2017: €732,001).

 
15. Cash and cash equivalents

2018  
€

2017 
€

Cash at bank and in hand 21,825,335 17,003,063

21,825,335 17,003,063
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16. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
      

2018  
€

2017 
€

Loans owed to credit institutions 6,836,478 8,711,021

Trade creditors 1,605,357 1,122,510

Taxation and social insurance 898,518 448,897

Accruals 5,492,317 3,215,489

Deferred income 1,674,924 1,540,760

16,507,594 15,038,677

 

Other taxation and social insurance

PAYE/PRSI control 256,993 208,717

VAT control 627,589 231,642

RCT control 13,936 8,538

898,518 448,897

Secured loans
Included within loans owed to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF 
for €6,460,878 (2017: €8,349,637). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed 
charges on specific housing properties. The loans are subject to interest rates ranging 
between 2% to 4.85% (2017: 2.42% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in monthly 
instalments ranging over a 30-year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank 
of €375,600 (2017: €361,384) for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates 
of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. Ulster Bank hold a freehold 
first legal charge on Northbank House, 159-161 Sheriff Street, Dublin 1 as security over the 
loans. Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the 
Companies Registration Office and are available at www.cro.ie.

Trade and other creditors are payable at various dates over the coming months in 
accordance with the suppliers’ usual and customary credit terms.

Other taxes including social insurance are repayable at various dates over the coming 
months in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions.
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17. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2018  
€

2017 
€

Loans owed to credit institutions 303,115,769 196,202,612

Government grants received 440,306,227 450,601,065

743,421,996 646,803,677

 
Secured loans
Included within loans owned to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF 
for €300,392,164 (2017: €193,108,948). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by 
fixed charges on specific housing properties. The loans are subject to interest rates ranging 
between 2% to 4.85% (2017: 2.42% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in monthly 
instalments ranging over a 30-year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank 
of €2,723,605 (2017: €3,093,664) for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest 
rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. Ulster Bank hold a 
freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159-161 Sheriff Street, Dublin 1 as security 
over the loans. Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with 
the Companies Registration Office and are available at www.cro.ie.

Government Grants
Government grants represent grants made to the Company from CLSS and CAS schemes. 
No capital and interest repayments are required to be made on these grants provided that 
the Company continues to comply with certain specific requirements of the local authorities 
with regard to the properties for which housing has been provided. These grants are secured 
by specific charges on the Company’s land and housing properties. €440,306,227 (2017: 
€450,601,065) represents grants to be released to income in future years in accordance with 
the accounting policy on government grants. 
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18. Loans and debt analysis
Analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

2018  
€

2017 
€

Amounts falling due within one year

Other loans 6,836,478 8,711,021

Amounts falling due 1-2 years

Other loans 13,305,823 6,815,188

Amounts falling due 2-5 years

Other loans 20,560,945 20,361,575

Amounts falling due after more than 5 years

Other loans 269,249,001 169,025,849

309,952,247 204,913,633

The following is an analysis of the anticipated contractual cash flows including interest payable on HFA 
and CALF loans on an undiscounted basis. Interest is calculated on drawn debt held as at 31 December 
2018. The interest on debt is calculated by reference to the underlying loan agreement and the rate 
applicable at the balance sheet date.

 
Debt 

€
Interest on debt 

€
Total 

€

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Due less than one year 6,836,478 6,298,667 13,135,145

Between one and two years 6,469,345 6,101,070 12,570,415

Between two and three years 6,657,697 5,912,718 12,570,415

Between three and five years 13,903,248 11,237,582 25,140,830

In five or more years 276,085,479 121,125,657 397,211,136

 309,952,247 150,675,694 460,627,941

Debt 
€

Interest on debt 
€

Total 
€

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Due less than one year 8,711,021 5,467,848 14,178,869

Between one and two years 6,815,188 5,271,294 12,086,482

Between two and three years 6,787,762 5,104,016 11,891,778

Between three and five years 13,573,813 9,706,537 23,280,350

In five or more years 169,025,849 67,696,732 236,722,581

 204,913,633 93,246,427 298,160,060
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19. Financial instruments

2018  
€

2017 
€

Financial assets

Cash at bank and in hand 21,825,335 17,003,063

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 5,714,617 2,305,037

27,539,952 19,308,100

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (317,049,921) (209,251,632)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade debtors.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade creditors, accruals and other 
loans owing within one year and in greater than one year.
 

20. Reserves

Designated reserve
The designated reserve is held for the long-term maintenance of the Company’s properties. 
The reserve has been reviewed by management as part of the long-term company planning 
process and held at 2015 level as it is seen as sufficient to meet future obligations when they 
fall due to maintain and repair existing housing assets.

Other restricted reserve
The other reserve represents donations of land to the Company for the purpose of social 
housing needs. These lands were utilised in the construction of social housing in Galway  
and Cork.

Deferred amortisation reserve
The deferred amortisation reserve represents the credit arising from the FRS 102 adjustment 
on grant funded properties offset by the depreciation on property assets. This reserve will 
reverse over time with the exception of permanent timing differences. In 2018, it was €25.3 
million (2017: €23.2 million). The reserve is as a result of the adoption of FRS102 accounting 
compliant policies. Historically the Company’s accounting policy did not amortise CLSS or 
CAS funding or property assets.

Income and expenditure account
Includes all current and prior period retained surpluses and deficits.

 
21. Company status
The Company is limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each 
of the Members is liable to contribute an amount not exceeding €1 towards the assets of the 
Company in the event of liquidation.
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22. Capital commitments
At 31 December 2018 the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2018  
€

2017 
€

Contracted for but not provided in these  
Financial Statements

74,052,083 67,869,135

Committed to but not contracted or provided for  
in these Financial Statements

39,177,718 -

113,229,801 67,869,135

Capital commitments relate to purchase and development of land and housing properties 
and other fixed assets.

 
23. Pension commitments
The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately to the assets of the Company in an independently 
administered fund. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the income and expenditure 
account as they become payable. The charge for the period is shown in Note 8 of the 
financial statements and at the period end there were unpaid contributions amounting to 
€Nil (2017: €Nil).

24. Commitments under operating lease
At 31 December 2018 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non 
cancellable operating leases as follows:

2018  
€

2017 
€

Not later than 1 year 1,938,356 2,231,094

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  7,753,424 8,924,374

Later than 5 years  23,265,077 24,602,923

Total 32,956,857 35,758,391

 
 
25. Events since the year end
There have been no significant events affecting the Company since the year end.
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26. Contingent liabilities
A number of claims have been made against the Company in respect of personal injury and 
property related matters arising from the ordinary course of business. The Company, having 
taken appropriate legal advice is defending any claims made against it. Provision of €66,500 
has been made for legal and professional fees incurred to date in respect of these claims 
(2017: €42,500), but not in respect of any claims made. Details of these contingent liabilities 
have not been included in the financial statements as disclosure of same could be deemed 
prejudicial to the outcome of these legal cases.

27. Related party transactions
Roxborough Mews Management Company Limited is a related party of Clúid as Clúid owns 
67% of the shares of the company. As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, Clúid 
was owed €1,825 by Roxborough Mews Management Company Limited.

During the year Mr. Paul Mooney, Director, was contracted to complete a piece of work for 
the Company outside of his role as Director, and fees amounting to €16,000 (2017: €Nil) were 
paid in respect of this. At the year-end €Nil (2017: €Nil) of these fees remained outstanding 
to Mr. Paul Mooney, Director.

28. Approval of financial statements
The Board of Directors approved these Financial Statements for issue on 21 February 2019.
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